

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEBSITE QUALITY AND USER WILLINGNESS TO DONATE TO NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS

MUHAMAD SHAMSUL BIN IBRAHIM

FBMK 2018 15



RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEBSITE QUALITY AND USER WILLINGNESS TO DONATE TO NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS



Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor Philosophy

COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



DEDICATION



This thesis was humbly dedicated to my beloved parent and siblings' also dearest friend. Without their support and sacrifices, I will be lost.

Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WEBSITE QUALITY AND USER WILLINGNESS TO DONATE TO NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS

By

MUHAMAD SHAMSUL BIN IBRAHIM

December 2017

Chairman : Professor Md Salleh Hassan, PhD

Faculty : Modern Languages and Communication

The advancement of communication technology has brought new horizon of business approach in this digital era. A non-profit organization needs a better understanding to manipulate website online factors to meet website user preference and to influence their decision making. This study uses website quality and Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) to identify the relationship of online factors for a website with website user willingness to donate.

The aim of this study is to identify the online factors preferred by the NPO website user. This study use frequency as first statistical analysis to measure the presence of the website quality features in the NPO website that involved in this study. The study also using SEM as it second statistical analysis to explore the relationship between the variables. In addition, this study also tested the significance of satisfaction of using NPO website as a mediator between the website online factors with user willingness to donate.

The study uses a mixed method namely a survey and quantitative content analysis as a research design. The survey was the main method and conducted online for users from the ten non-profit organisation that involved in this research. The study adopted a convenience sampling technique. The selected respondent must have an experience browsing the NPO website. Therefore, 269 responses were successfully collected. While the quantitative content analysis was a supplement method and used to measure the presence of the website quality features on the similar NPO participated in this study.

For the information quality features, a descriptive analysis showed all the NPO in this study has included the NPO general information, also parallel with a website user level of importance. While for the system quality features, the finding revealed that every NPO website participated in this study have included a menu option on their website for better navigation to the next website page. The finding also is equivalent to the respondent level of importance. Whereas, for the service quality, 90% of the NPO have included telephone and fax number on the website to establish two-way communication with website users. The finding corresponds to the website user level of importance.

For the variables relationship, the finding indicated only service quality was found related to user satisfaction of using the NPO website. In addition, the satisfaction of using the NPO website also significantly related to the website user willingness to donate. Hence, the satisfaction of using NPO website showed an indirect relationship between service quality and user willingness to donate. While trust and system quality showed a direct relationship to user willingness to donate.

This study concluded that website users are willing to donate if they feel satisfied with the NPO website service. The website users also are willing to donate if the NPO website can be trusted and the website system quality met their expectation. Therefore, service, system and trust quality are important to be considered if the NPO to develop a website.

Key word: Website quality, TAM, Trust, Satisfaction of using NPO website

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

HUBUNGAN ANTARA KUALITI LAMAN SESAWANG DAN KESUDIAN PENGGUNA MENDERMA KE BADAN BUKAN BERASASKAN KEUNTUNGAN

Oleh

MUHAMAD SHAMSUL BIN IBRAHIM

Disember 2017

Pengerusi : Profesor Md Salleh Hassan, PhD Fakulti : Bahasa Moden dan Komunikasi

Kemajuan teknologi komunikasi telah membawa dimensi baru kepada perniagaan di era digital ini. Badan bukan berasaskan keuntungan (NPO) perlu lebih memahami untuk memanipulasi faktor – faktor atas talian bagi laman sesawang untuk mencapai jangkaan pengguna dan mempengaruhi pengguna dalam membuat keputusan untuk menderma.

Tujuan kajian ini adalah untuk mengenalpasti faktor-faktor atas talian yang disukai oleh pengguna laman sesawang NPO. Kajian ini menggunakan frekuensi sebagai analisis statistik yang pertama untuk mengukur kehadiran ciri —ciri yang sedia ada wujud di laman sesawang NPO. Kajian ini juga menggunakan Model Persamaan Struktur (SEM) sebagai analisis statistik kedua untuk melihat hubungan yang wujud di antara pembolehubah di dalam model kajian ini. Selain itu, kajian ini juga menguji kepentingan hubungan pembolehubah kepuasan pengguna melayari laman sesawang sebagai perantara di antara faktor — faktor atas talian laman sesawang dan kesudian pengguna untuk menderma.

Kajian ini menggunakan kaji selidik serta analisis kandungan kuantitatif sebagai kaedah kajian. Kaji selidik merupakan kaedah utama dan dilakukan di atas talian kepada pengguna laman sesawang NPO yang terlibat di dalam kajian ini. Kajian ini menggunakan teknik persampelan mudah. Responden dipilih berdasarkan pengalaman mereka yang telah melayari laman sesawang NPO. Dengan itu, seramai 269 respon telah berjaya dikumpulkan. Analisis kandungan kuantitatif pula adalah kaedah tambahan untuk mengukur kehadiran elemen – elemen kualiti laman sesawang NPO yang terlibat di dalam kajian ini.

Untuk ciri –ciri kualiti maklumat, analisis diskriptif menunjukkan, semua laman sesawang NPO dalam kajian ini mempunyai maklumat am berkaitan organisasi yang juga selari dengan tahap pentingnya kepada pengguna. Manakala, ciri –ciri bagi kualiti sistem laman sesawang, keputusan kajian menunjukkan kesemua laman sesawang NPO mempunyai pilihan menu untuk memudahkan navigasi laman sesawang. Keputusan kajian ini juga selari dengan tahap pentingnya kepada pengguna. Selain itu, kualiti perkhidmatan laman sesawang menunjukkan 90% daripada laman sesawang NPO dalam kajian ini mempunyai nombor telefon dan faksimili tertera di laman sesawang masing – masing. Keputusan kajian ini juga selari dengan tahap pentingnya kepada pengguna.

Untuk hubungan antara pembolehubah, dapatan kajian menunjukkan hanya kualiti perkhidmatan laman sesawang mempunyai hubungan dengan kepuasan pengguna menggunakan laman sesawang. Selain itu, kepuasan pengguna menggunakan laman sesawang juga menunjukkan hubungan yang signifikan dengan kesudian pengguna untuk menderma. Maka, kepuasan menggunakan laman sesawang menunjukkan hubungan tidak langsung antara kualiti perkhidmatan dan kesudian pengguna untuk menderma. Manakala, percaya dan kualiti sistem laman sesawang menunjukkan hubungan secara langsung dengan kesudian pengguna untuk menderma.

Kajian ini merumuskan pengguna laman sesawang sudi untuk menderma jika mereka berpuashati dengan kualiti perkhidmatan yang diberikan oleh laman sesawang NPO. Pengguna juga bersedia menderma jika laman sesawang NPO boleh dipercayai dan kualiti sistem laman sesawang mencapai jangkaan pengguna. Dengan itu, kualiti perkhidmatan, kualiti sistem dan percaya adalah faktor penting untuk dipertimbangkan apabila NPO membina laman sesawang.

Kata kunci: Kualiti Laman Sesawang, TAM, Percaya, Kepuasan melayari laman sesawang.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research would not be possible without the support and collaboration of a wide range of people and organisations. I have been lucky to work with a lot of great people over the years. First of all, I wish to thank those who generously offer their time and expertise to read and comments on this research early draft namely Prof. Dr Md. Salleh bin Hj. Hassan, Dr Azura bt. Adzharrudin and Dr Rosya Izyanee bt. Shamshuddeen. They have contributed ideas and managed to identify problems. This research has been significantly improved because of their input. Much of this research is based on my interaction with a wide variety of people and organisations. I have learnt a lot and would particularly like to thank Ahmad Syuhaidi, Seri Azra, Latifah, Adam Yusuf, Nurul Hayati Abd. Halim, Renee Fong and every NPO involved in this study. I would like to thank Yuhani for proofreading the manuscript and her excellent editing and helps to make this manuscript parallel to the UPM standard. There are many, many inspiring figures out there to ensure my motivation always at the peak to complete this research. A few those have particularly inspired me through this journey namely my parent; Ibrahim Hassan and Zaliha Md. Dora, my siblings; Zalifah, Saharil, Zafirah, Rahman and Zawanah also my niece and nephews; Sofia, Sofian, Dhamir and Mikael who always cheer me up.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of the Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Md. Salleh bin Hj. Hassan, PhD

Professor Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

NorAzura binti Adzharuddin, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

Rosya Izyanie binti Shamshudeen, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

ROBIAH BINTI YUNUS, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

Declaration by graduate student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software

Signature:	Date:

Name and Matric No: Muhamad Shamsul bin Ibrahim, GS37638

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) were adhered to.

Signature:	
Name of Chairman	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Professor Dr. Md. Salleh bin Hj. Hassan
Signature:	E Maria Arres E
Name of Member	T - 112, 127 / 121 /
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. NorAzura binti Adzharuddin
Signature:	
Name of Member	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Rosya Izyanie binti Shamshudeen

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		I	Page
ABST ACK APP DEC LIST LIST LIST	ROVAL CLARAT T OF TA T OF FIG T OF AP	EDGEMENT TION BLES	i iii v viii viii xiv xviii xix xx
СНА	PTER		
1	INTR	ODUCTION	1
	1.1	Overview	1
	1.2	Background of the study	1
		1.2.1 The importance of caring society.	1
		1.2.2 Reasons for people donating to Non-Profit Organisation	
		(NPO)	4
	1.3	Problem statement	5
	1.4	Research Question	8
	1.5	Research Objective	9
	1.6	Significant of Study	10
	1.7	Scope of the Study	11
	1.8	Definition of Terms	11
2	LITE	RATURE REVIEW	13
	2.1	Overview	13
	2.2	Non-Profit Organisation (NPO)	13
		2.2.1 Definition	13
		2.2.2 Non-profit Organisation in Malaysia	14
		2.2.3 Non-profit Organisation function	16
	2.3	Website	16
		2.3.1 Definition	16
		2.3.2 Website as a potential medium to solicit donation	17
		2.3.3 Challenges/Issues in managing the website	19
	2.4	Introduction to Theoretical Framework	25
	2.5	Theoretical Framework	27
	2.6	Website quality	27
		2.6.1 Relationship of Website Quality with Satisfaction of using	_
		NPO website and user Willingness to Donate	28
		2.6.2 Information Quality	32
		2.6.2.1 Function of Information Quality	33

			2.6.2.2	Relationship of Information Quality with	
				Satisfaction of using NPO website and User	
				Willingness to Donate	34
		2.6.3	System C	- ·	35
			2.6.3.1	Functions of System Quality	36
			2.6.3.2	Relationship of System Quality with User	
				satisfaction of using NPO website and User	
				willingness to Donate	36
		2.6.4	Service (Quality	37
			2.6.4.1	Functions of Service Quality	38
			2.6.4.2	Relationship of Service Quality with	
				Satisfaction of using NPO website and user	
				Willingness to Donate	39
	2.7	Techn	ology Acc	eptance Model (TAM)	40
		2.7.1	Relations	ship of PEOU and PU with Satisfaction of using	
			NPO web	osite and user Willingness to Donate	42
		2.7.2	Relations	ship of Trust with Satisfaction of using NPO	
			website a	and user Willingness to Donate	43
		2.7.3	Relations	ship of Satisfaction of using NPO website with	
			users' W	illingness to Donate	45
	2.8	Satisfa	action of u	sing NPO website as Mediator to User	
		Willin	igness to D	Oonate	47
	2.9	Resea	rch Conce	ptual Framework	48
	2.10	Resea	rch Hypoth	neses	49
	2.11	Chapt	er Summai	ry	50
_					
3			LOGY		51
	3.1	Overv			51
	3.2		rch Design		51
		3.2.1	-		51
			Content A		53
		3.2.3		nalysis and sampling for Survey	53
				Unit of analysis	53
			3.2.3.2	Sampling Procedure	54
		3.2.4		nalysis and sampling for quantitative content	
			analysis		54
	3.3			nt of Instrument for survey	56
		3.3.1	-	lent Variables	57
			3.3.1.1	Information Quality	57
			3.3.1.2	System Quality	57
			3.3.1.3	Service Quality	58
			3.3.1.4	Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU)	59
			3.3.1.5	Perceived Usefulness (PU)	60
			3.3.1.6	Trust	60
		3.3.2	Mediatio	n Variable	61
			3.3.2.1	Satisfaction of using NPO website	61
		3.3.3	Depende	nt Variable	61
			3.3.3.1	Willingness to donate	62

	3.4	The Development of Instrument for quantitative content analysis	62
	3.5	Pre –Test for survey	66
		3.5.1 Instrument Validity and Reliability before Actual Data	
		Collection	67
	3.6	Pre –Test for quantitative content analysis	68
	3.7	Data Collection for survey	71
		3.7.1 Encouraging respondents' participation	71
	3.8	Validity and Reliability of Data Collection for Survey	73
		3.8.1 Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA)	73
		3.8.1.1 CFA of Information Quality	73
		3.8.1.2 CFA of System Quality	75
		3.8.1.3 CFA of Service Quality	77
		3.8.1.4 CFA of Perceived Usefulness	80
		3.8.1.5 CFA of Perceived Ease of Use	81
		3.8.1.6 CFA of Trust	83
		3.8.1.7 CFA of Trust CFA of Satisfaction of using NPO website	84
			85
		3	87
			88
	2.0	3.8.2.2 Normality Test and Outlier Test	90
	3.9	Data Collection for Quantitative Content Analysis	93
		3.9.1 Enhancing Validity and Reliability of quantitative content	0.4
	2.10	analysis	94
	3.10	Method of Data Processing for survey	95
		3.10.1 Data Screening	96
		3.10.2 Descriptive analysis by SPSS	96
		3.10.3 Statistical Analysis by using Structural Equation	
		Modelling (SEM)	96
	3.11	Method of Data Processing for Quantitative Content Analysis	97
		3.11.1 Statistical Analysis Using SPSS	97
4		JLTS AND DISCUSSION	99
		Overview	99
	4.2	Descriptive analysis of website users' profile	99
	4.3	Descriptive analysis of website features	100
		4.3.1 Descriptive analysis of Information Quality features	
		presence in the NPO website	100
		4.3.2 Descriptive analysis of System Quality features presence	
		in the NPO website	107
		4.3.3 Descriptive analysis of Service Quality features' presence	
		in the NPO website	112
		4.3.4 Descriptive analysis of PEOU	118
		4.3.5 Descriptive analysis of Trust	119
		4.3.6 Descriptive analysis of Satisfaction using NPO website	119
		4.3.7 Descriptive analysis of Willingness to Donate	120
	4.4	Hypothesized relationships test	121
		4.4.1 Structural Equation Modelling analysis of variables in	
		the concentual framework	121

		4.4.2	Website Quality and user Satisfaction of using NPO	
			website	125
		4.4.3	,	
			Website	128
		4.4.4	Satisfaction of using NPO website and user Willingness	
			to donate	130
		4.4.5	The mediating effects testing	131
_	CITIE E		THE TOTAL PROPERTY AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY AND ADDRESS OF THE PROPERTY ADDRESS	100
5			, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	139
	5.1	Overv		139
	5.2		nary of the Study	139
			Problem Statement	139
		5.2.2	Objective	139
		5.2.3	Methodology	140
		5.2.4	Summary of findings	140
		5.2.5	Conclusion of the study	147
		5.2.6	Implications of the study	148
		5.2.7	Recommendations of the study	150
		5.2.8	Limitations	153
		5.2.9	Recommendation for Future Study	154
DEEL	ERENC	TC		156
	ENDIC			
			DENTE	172
		OF STU		193
LIST	OF PU	BLICA	ATIONS	194

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Website quality study using variety of IS for different type of business	20
2.2	Website study using different methods for specific purpose	22
2.3	Website quality study in different industry	30
2.4	Website quality dimension analysis by Xu, Benbasat, and Centefelli (2013)	32
3.1	List of Non-profit organisation in Putra Brand Award 2010	55
3.2	Operationalisation of Study Instrument	56
3.3	Items to measure information quality	57
3.4	Items to measure system quality	58
3.5	Items to measure service quality	59
3.6	Items to measure perceived ease of use	59
3.7	Item to measure perceived usefulness	60
3.8	Items to measure trust	60
3.9	Items to measure Satisfaction of using NPO website	61
3.10	Items to measure Willingness to Donate	62
3.11	Information Quality features and its measures	64
3.12	System Quality features and its measures	65
3.13	Service Quality features and its measures	66
3.14	Reliability Coefficient of Research Instrument	68
3.15	Inter-coder reliability for all Information Quality codable content	69
3.16	Inter-coder reliability for all System Quality codable content	70
3.17	Inter-coder reliability for all Service Quality codable content	71

3.18	Table Fitness Information Quality	75
3.19	Table Loading Information Quality	75
3.20	Table Fitness System Quality	76
3.21	Table loading System Quality	76
3.22	Table Fitness Service Quality	78
3.23	Table Loading Service Quality	78
3.24	Table Multicollinearity	79
3.25	Table Fitness PU	81
3.26	Table Loading PU	81
3.27	Table Fitness PEOU	82
3.28	Table Loading PEOU	82
3.29	Table Fitness Trust	83
3.30	Table Loading Trust	84
3.31	Table Fitness Satisfaction of using NPO website	85
3.32	Table Loading Satisfaction of using NPO website	85
3.33	Table Fitness Willingness to Donate	86
3.34	Table Loading Willingness to Donate	87
3.35	Table Fitness Measurement Model	88
3.36	Discriminant validity values	89
3.37	The result of Overall CFA for Measurement Model	92
4.1	Descriptive analysis of website users' profile	99
4.2	Descriptive analysis of website users' donation experience	100
4.3	Information quality features for every website	103
4.4	Users opinion on NPO information quality features	105

4.5	Users agreement on Information Quality variables	106
4.6	System quality features for every NPO website	109
4.7	Users opinion on NPO system quality features	110
4.8	Users agreement on system quality variables	111
4.9	Service quality features for every website	114
4.10	Users opinion on NPO service quality features	116
4.11	Users agreement on Service quality variables	117
4.12	Users opinion on website PEOU	118
4.13	Users agreement on website Trust	119
4.14	Users satisfaction of using NPO website on website	120
4.15	Users agreement on Willingness to Donate	121
4.16	Test for causal path	123
4.17	Table Fitness Structural Equation Model	123
4.18	The regression path coefficients and its significance based on p-value < 0.05 for website quality and satisfaction of using NPO website	125
4.19	Information Quality Factor Loading Value in SEM	126
4.20	System quality Factor Loading Value in SEM	127
4.21	Service quality Factor Loading Value in SEM	128
4.22	The regression path coefficients and its significance based on p-value < 0.05 for website PEOU and Trust, and satisfaction of using NPO website	128
4.23	PEOU Factor Loading Value in SEM	129
4.24	Trust Factor Loading Value in SEM	129
4.25	The regression path coefficients and its significance based on p-value < 0.05 for web site user satisfaction of using NPO website and user willingness to donate	130
4.26	Satisfaction of using NPO website Factor Loading Value in SEM	131

4.27	CMIN (Chi-Square)	132
4.28	PNFI (Parsimony Normed Fit Index)	132
4.29	AIC (Akaike Information Correction)	132
4.30	Result to test satisfaction of using NPO website as mediator for information quality on user willingness to donate	133
4.31	Result to test satisfaction of using NPO website as mediator for system quality (SysQ) on user willingness to donate	134
4.32	Result to test satisfaction of using NPO website as mediator for service quality (SvcQ) on user willingness to donate	135
4.33	Result to test satisfaction of using NPO website as mediator for PEOU on Willingness to donate	137
4.34	Result to test Satisfaction of using NPO website as mediator for Trust on Willingness to donate	138
5.1	Result of the Study	146

LIST OF FIGURES

Figur	e	Page
2.1	Delone and McLean Model	27
2.2	Technology Acceptance Model	27
2.3	Research Conceptual Framework	49
3.1	CFA model Information Quality	74
3.2	CFA model System Quality	76
3.3	CFA Model for Service Quality	78
3.4	CFA Model PU	81
3.5	CFA Model PEOU	82
3.6	CFA Model Trust	83
3.7	CFA Model Satisfaction of using NPO website	85
3.8	CFA Model Willingness to Donate	86
3.9	Measurement Model	90
4.1	Percentage of Information Quality features in NPO Website	102
4.2	Percentage of System Quality features in NPO Website	108
4.3	Percentage of Service Quality features in NPO Website	115
4.4	Result of Structural Modelling Analysis	124
5.1	Model of the study	147

LIST OF APPENDICES

App	pendix	Page
1	Sample of letter Non-Profit Organisation	172
2	Survey Questionnaire	173
3	Codebook	185
4	Information Quality coding form	190
5	System Quality coding form	191
6	Service Quality coding form	192

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

NPO Non-Profit Organisation

Info Q Information Quality

Sys Q System Quality

Svc Q Service Quality

PU Perceived Usefulness

PEOU Perceived Ease of Use

IV Independent Variable

DV Dependent Variable

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

This thesis was organized into five chapters. Chapter 1 began with the study introduction on how the research was initiated. While Chapter 2 describing all the variables involved in this research namely, the website information, system, and service quality also the website perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and trust towards user willingness to donate with the presence of satisfaction of using NPO website as a mediator. Whereas, Chapter 3 will explain the adopted methods and procedures used to develop the research instrument, to collect and analyse the data. All the results were elaborated in Chapter 4 with the statistical analyses. Chapter 5 is the final chapter which includes the discussion of the research summary, contributions, limitations, implications and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 1 is organized into 8 sections which include the background of the study (section 1.2), the problem statement (section 1.3), the research questions (section 1.4), and the research objectives (section 1.5). The following section is comprising a discussion of the significance of study (section 1.6) and the scope of the study (section 1.7). While the definition of the study key terms is given in section 1.8.

1.2 Background of the study

1.2.1 The importance of caring society.

What is caring society? Why is a caring society important? What constitutes a caring society? Those questions lingered around, and further research leads to a probable logical answer that is the love. Love is a precious nature in man involving of logic and rational mental activities. Love is pivotal to develop a caring society. Love can nurture through three basic factors, namely, the love, sympathy and being rational. Sympathy can be expressed through assisting others who are in need either monetary or nonmonetary donation. Whilst being rational is nurturing the logic and mature thinking while making a decision. Glenn (2000) refers caring as to meet the other person needs by another person which is involved in the face to face interaction among the caretaker and the cared for and where the need is cannot possibly be met by the person in need herself. A practical definition of caring society is a society where people go the extra mile to help people willingly, but not out of obligation or because to fulfil someone demand (Admin, 2010). Muhamad, Mohamed, Haron, Rahman and Aisyah (2004) concluded that a caring society is a society which possesses a perfect level of maturity and highly appreciated the essence to live together, willingness to help and to collaborate to develop a peaceful society. Thus, as what has been discussed above,

caring society is likely can be developed through nourishing the concern, tolerance, and spirit to help the society.

According to the Al Quran, caring society relates to the relation of man to Allah, The Creator, the relation of man to man and the relation of human being to the world. For the relation of man to Allah, Allah says in the Quran: "Disgrace will be branded on them wherever they are found except when they get refuge under the favour of Allah or the patronage of other people; they have incurred the wrath of Allah" (Al-Emran:112). Whereas, to show that man to man also related, Allah also mention that: "The believers are brothers to one another, therefore, make reconciliation your brothers and fear Allah, so that you may be shown mercy" (Al-Hujurat:10). Henceforth, a relation of man to the world was clearly mentioned in the hadith as narrated by Abu Hurairah that Prophet Muhammad (PBUH) said: There was a branch of a tree that annoyed the people. A man removed it, so he was admitted to Paradise." (Ibnu Majah, n.d)

A caring society would able to integrate unity of thoughts and souls in the individual. A person must extend the brotherhood spirit amongst others to create a caring society. In the opinion of Muhamad, Mohamed, Haron, Rahman and Aisyah (2004), brotherhood is essential to create unity. Muhamad, Mohamed, Haron, Rahman and Aisyah (2004) said that willingness to help is one of the elements to develop a caring society. The brotherhood spirit could foster the feeling of care and willingness to help each other. Thus, caring society will produce nicer, kinder, egalitarian and just society members (Glenn, 2000). Therefore, caring society is likely a society that successfully produced society members who are highly concerned, high tolerance, always ready to volunteer and to share similar value and objective to create a harmony society. Due to that, the spirit to help each other is important in developing a caring society.

Every person is responsible for helping those in needs. For example, the rich to assist the poor, the wealthy to help the needy and the young to help the weak. It is important to value the spirit to help each other. This intent could be utilised at different level such as to help own self, the family, the society, and others. Due to that, the individual is encouraged to donate, to give sadaqah (voluntary offering) and to waqf (an endowment made by a Muslim to a religious, educational, or charitable cause) as one of the methods to help others. This is in line with Allah words in Quran that: "Worship none but Allah; treat with kindness your parents and kindred, and orphans, and those in need; speak fair to the people; be steadfast in prayer; and practice regular charity" (Al-Baqarah:83).

The development of caring society is important to the development of Malaysia. Tun Mahathir Mohamad, the Former Malaysia Prime Minister, has announced in 1991 that one of the nine challenges to achieve vision 2020 is to develop a caring society. A new Malaysia social system that will put the interest of society forward compared to the own need. The society shall become one, which the people's welfare will revolve not at the state and individual level, but around the strong and resilient family system.

Due to that, many programs have been done by the government with the collaboration of statutory bodies and non-profit organisations. Every bit of information must vividly explain and be able to capture the society's attention. Several platforms have been used to promote awareness programs and community activities emphasising every Malaysian as a unit and promoting etiquette through mass media. The on-going efforts of the government to ensure the success of developing caring society can be seen via several of government contributions and the establishment of non-profit organisations (NPO) and welfare societies such as National Cancer Council (MAKNA), Malaysian Association for the Blind (MAB), Pertubuhan Orang Cacat and others to care for the unfortunate Malaysian. Besides that, numerous public halls called Dewan Masyarakat Penyayang (Caring Society Hall), or complexes called Kompleks Masyarakat Penyayang have been designed and built to foster unity and caring spirit in the society (Nain, 2011). In addition, various social activities such as cooperation or commonly known as gotong-royong and a social visit to the underprivileged people have been executed. Besides, many religious programs and activities being brought out to empower the caring spirit in the society (Mohamed, 2012). Likewise, numerous festivals and celebrations have been organised to encourage the society to celebrate the festival together to promote unity.

Since the establishment of the NPO and welfare societies is part of the government effort to develop the caring society, hence it is the responsibility of the NPO's or the welfare society's to convey the idea of a caring community to friends in Malaysia. In the opinion of Kilby (2006), NPO plays a significant role to strengthen the civil society because of their close relationship to the communities. As an independent organisation, not related to any political party or any other union, the NPO is the most influential organisation because of their neutral position. Kilby (2006) also mentions that donor-NPO relation is a partnership based on equality where it was built on the common goals. Hence, the NPO is accountable to keep a healthy relationship with donors' especially to spend the donation effectively for the common purposes. Due to that, the public is likely easy to accept the NPO vision and mission.

The NPO can help in setting up the caring society through cultivating the zeal to donate or to sadaqah or to waqf through an effective website. Donations will create a positive impact on the development of a caring society. According to Basil, Ridgway, and Basil (2008) that charitable donations are a form of prosocial or helping behaviour.

It creates a sense of brotherhood in which the spirit of brotherhood can be created with the help and assistance in various forms (Mohd Zakaria, Abd. Samad, & Shafii, 2012). Allah says in the Quran: "The parable of those who spend their wealth in the way of Allah is that of a grain that sprouts into seven ears, each bearing one hundred grains. Allah gives manifold increase to whom He wishes. Allah has boundless knowledge" (Al-Baqarah:261). Anik, Aknin, Norton and Dunn (2009) said individuals who gave money to benefit the others were found happier compared to those who spend the money for themselves only. As mentioned by Paradi (2014), to reach happiness, we must start offering happiness. So, those who feel happy is more probable to offer assistance.

Grant and Dutton (2012) have mentioned that receiving benefits can promote prosocial behaviour through reciprocity and positive effect although it often relationship-specific oriented, short-lived and complicated by ambivalent reactions. But, to encourage of prosocial behaviour attitude development, the spirit of giving has to be more powerful than to receive. This is in line with the famous expression that is sharing is caring. The history has proven that willing to share is important to produce great society. For example, since the era of Prophet Muhammad (PBUH) who has produced great leaders after him such as Abu Bakar As-Siddiq, Umar Al-Khatab, Usman bin Affan and Ali bin Abu Talib. The technique also has been applied by great Ulama such as Iman Syafie, Imam Maliki, Imam Hambali and Imam Hanafi who have shared their knowledge and taught others to pursue their legacy of knowledge and piety. So, to produce a caring society, the society itself must be willing to give, to share and to love. Malaysian can be taught to be more interested with the zeal to share or to donate as Amy Carmichael, a famed hero of humanity says, 'You can give without loving, but you cannot love without giving."

1.2.2 Reasons for people donating to Non-Profit Organisation (NPO)

The research of why people donate to NPO clearly is related to the user decision making process. There are many findings associated with the offline factors that influence users' decision. With the advancement of today's technologies, the factors that influence user decision-making process also have changed through time. Many businesses have shifted or at least making progress towards better technology used to cater the demand and to expand the market horizon. A variety of studies has been conducted in different industries with one goal that is to understand customer decision making factors. The transition is developing from offline to online. Thus, the NPO is also affected by this transition and investigating the factors that influence people to donate to NPO is important.

The reviews of the donor decision to donate were influenced by several factors. In the opinion of Mejova, Weber, and Garimella, Dougal (2014), people willing to donate when they are aware of the important issues, recognise the opportunity to do charity and influenced by the external factor such as friends. Alias and Ismail (2013) found that donors prefer to contribute to the organisations they trust and confident. According Shier and Handy (2012), gender, organisation perception and influence from others are the factors would influence people to donate. Smith and Schwarz (2012) reported that donors who know a lot about the NPO and its cause are more likely to donate. Snipes and Oswald (2010) stated the reasons for a donor to donate are when they are aware of the selected NPO existence and clear with the service offered by the NPO. While Gordon, Knock, and Neely (2009) found that a well-known NPO would receive higher contributions compare to the less popular NPO. Lee and Chang (2007) finding indicated there are differences on donation behaviour in Western and Asia culture where in western culture, the donor decision to donate were influenced by an individual awareness of the NPO existence. But, in Taiwan, the individual awareness does not play significant influence towards the donor donation behaviour. Whilst Glynn, Schreiber, Murphy, Kessler, Higgins, Wright, Mathew, Tu,

King and Smith (2005) mentioned that the reasons for people to donate are because they feel responsible for helping others and they were asked to donate. Bennett (2003) reported that the personal values, organisational values and brand image of the charity amongst the factors that would influence individual inclination to donate. In the vast majority of cases, donor decision to donate was influenced by the NPO reputation which will create brand familiarity and awareness of the NPO existence and the ability of the NPO to share important information such as global and local issues that demand attention from the society instantly.

The reviews of the NPO website functions indicated that the website is capable of influencing user decision to donate. It is reported that the website is capable of enhancing, to shape and maintain the NPO identity and reputation (Madichie & Hinson, 2013; Sriramesh, Rivera-Sanchez, and Soriano, 2012; Pinho and Macedo, 2006), to promote fundraising and increase awareness and volunteer activities (Shier, and Handy, 2012; Reddick & Ponomariov, 2012; Diaz, Blasquez and Molina, and Martin-Consuegra, 2013; Yeon, Choi, Kiousis, 2005; Kang & Norton, 2004), to provide information (Uzunoglu & Misci Kip, 2013; Sommerfeldt, Kent, and Taylor, 2012; Zainudin, Ahmad, and Nee, 2010), to provide response (Sharma and Lijuan, 2015), to continue educating the multi-level society beyond geographical boundaries and as a tool to interact with multiple publics (Sharma and Lijuan, 2015; Ingenhoof, Koelling, 2010; Kang & Norton, 2004) and also to generate income (Zainudin, Ahmad, and Nee, 2010). According to Shier and Handy (2012), the offline factors which influence the user to donate cannot be applied to online donation. But, the previous reviews of the NPO website function showed that the NPO website is capable of meeting the factors to influence user decision to donate as discussed earlier. Chapter 2 will explain further the reasons for the website as a potential medium to solicit a donation.

Therefore, by understanding the website function and relation to the factors that are important to the user to donate, it would enhance the chance of NPO to receive a donation when the user browses the NPO website.

1.3 Problem statement

Malaysia Registration of Society (ROS) reported that there are 8,304 organisations that have been registered in 2013 from several sectors ("Statistik pendaftaran pertubuhan," 2014). ROS also stated that there is an increase in numbers of society which have registered for the following year until October 2014. The growing number has caused competition among the NPOs to get a monetary and non-monetary contribution. Similar to the for-profit organisation, NPO also required financial assistance to maintain their operation. Due to that, it is important for the NPO to identify the possible strategies to understand the factors that could contribute to the user willingness to donate to the NPO. Mejova, Weber and Garimella, and Dougal (2014) suggested that NPO should identify new strategies to find new potential donors. In addition, Goatman and Lewis (2007) stated that the development of the new technology would impact the way the NPO to communicate and to operate. Shier and

Handy (2012) proposed the future study should investigate reasons why people donate to one charity over another. They found that trust, reputation, and transparency are the aspects would influence the success of the online platform. Bennet (2009) suggested the future research should examine the impact of web page design towards donor impulsive giving decision. Hence, this research feels that more structured study of the NPO website features in Malaysia is required to categorise relevant NPO website attributes as an integrated communication package through a unified framework to cope with the website technology development and advancement.

The review of the NPO website studies reported many website issues related to the website features despite the low adoption rate of a website among the NPOs (McMahon, Seaman and Lemley, 2015). McMahon, Seaman, and Lemley (2015) said, the NPO likely to develop a website does not serve their particular purpose. According to Chang, Chen, Hsu and Kuo (2012), if the website user expectation on website quality decreasing, it will give an effect on the website perceived ease of use and usefulness and the website user's behavioural intention. For instance, NPO website was poorly designed (Abdullah, Husin, Hasan, Husain, Yahya, 2010) and was created purposely for a selected audience that is important to the organisation only. Whilst, Ingenhoff, and Koelling (2010) noticed that the German NPO website had been designed appropriately compared to the Swiss NPO website. A website must be designed suitably to avoid inconvenience experience to website user to obtain relevant information (Abdullah, Husin, Hasan, Husain & Yahya, 2010). According to Wong and Jusoff (2011), charity portals in Malaysia often lack information that could capture on donor attention. Goatman and Lewis (2007) reported that many NPO websites still at the introductory level where technical features such as the transaction and interaction still not being the top priority. In addition, the NPO also slow to cope with the new technology trend unlike the profit-making company (Pinho and Macedo, 2006). This is because according to Goatman and Lewis (2007) that the NPO see little need to embrace the new technology. Thus, the NPO is lagging behind in adapting to the new technology (Diaz, Blasquez, and Molina, Martin-Consuegra, 2013, Stone & Wilbanks, 2012).

Finally, due to the ineffective website, the NPO website in China received low visitors and failed to get media coverage to highlight the important issue (Yang & Taylor, 2010). In short, NPO website is having many unresolved issues in information, technical and servicing aspects. These problems caused the NPO website to be inefficient and substantially affected the NPO in various aspects such as the opportunity to receive donations and to get coverage for their efforts in combating important humanity issues. According to Zainudin, Ahmad and Nee (2010), the website design should be according to the users need as a guideline. Thus, the study believes that the website issues can be resolved by implementing better website design that suits the website user' preferences.

Among other things, the review on e-commerce website displays similarities of website issues for e-commerce and the NPO. According to Chen, Lin, and Chen (2012), difficulty on website navigation is one of the e-commerce website problems.

Whereas, Tan and Wei (2006) found that outdated information is one of the factors that cause dissatisfaction to the user. Non-friendly website content, inconsistent format, difficulties to interact and inefficient search capabilities are among the issues in the e-commerce website (Lee and Kozar, 2012). To sum up, the e-commerce and NPO website is sharing common problem related to website design. Thus, the researcher reckoned there is a common ground between both types of websites although it is in different sectors. Therefore, this research would like to investigate the possibilities to adapt the e-commerce website features to study the NPO website characteristic although Goatman and Lewis (2007) has mentioned that due to the NPO website still at the introductory level, may be the criteria to assess the commercial website cannot be directly used to assess the NPO website. However, this research agreeable with Pinho and Macedo (2006) that the line separating for-profit and nonprofit organisation are getting hazy. The clear mission of the for-profit organisation is money oriented. Yet, due to funding scarcity, a non-profit organisation is also becoming more financial oriented to remain relevant. Thus, an effective website that met user preference is important due to NPO is operating base on the public generosity.

By the same token, at present, the reviews on e-commerce websites involved a variety of model in the information system (IS) to understand user perceptions of the quality website for different industry including the non-profit sector. For example, Yu and Zhao (2014) applied Delone and McLean Model to study the agriculture website. In addition, Chen, Rungruengsamrit and Chen (2013) also applied the similar model in their study but for the website that sells flowers. While Lee and Wu (2011) have included different IS dimension such as service quality, trust, PU and satisfaction to study the airline website. The summary of the IS for the selected industry can be viewed in table 2.1. Due to that, the study feels it is important to select one model that suitable for the NPO website in Malaysia. The NPO website developer would have difficulty in selecting the most suitable IS that best to justify the NPO website performance. Hence, this study believes this research also should investigate and identify the best IS that is applicable to the NPO website effectiveness.

Most of the previous research on the NPO website have focused on basic content management (Diaz, Blasquez and Molina, Martin-Consuegra, 2013; Kang & Norton, 2004; Ingenhoff & Koellin, 2009; Yang & Taylor, 2010; Sommerfeldt, Kent, & Taylor, 2012; Uzunoglu & Misci Kip, 2013; Sriramesh, Rivera-Sanchez, & Soriano, 2012; Greenberg, MacAulay, 2009, Ingenhoof & Koelling, 2010) instead of users' preference and factors that could influence users decision making process. Kang and Norton (2004) said that 'for the NPO to remain marketable to the public, they need to offer the same services available at profit organisations websites. Website marketing must be different from the traditional marketing where they try to get attention, but website marketing and communication must always give attention (McGovern, 2010). In addition, many profit making website also emphasizes on the relationship of using user satisfaction with user intention and action. For example Belanche, Casalo, and Guinali (2012) research on online ticket selling, Agrebi and Jallais (2015) study on mobile shopping, and Mohammadi (2015) study on e-learning success. Due to that, it is important to constitute good web page design for the NPO based on the commercial

website design (Diaz, Blasquez and Molina, Martin-Consuegra, 2013). With that, the NPO website study probably can utilise the similar principles in commercial website design. Therefore, this study believes there is a need to investigate the relationship of NPO website user satisfaction with user intention due to satisfactions is an important factor to influence user decision making process in profit making website (Green and Pearson, 2011). This is also inline with Delone and McLean (2003) statement that an intention can also be reflected in an attitude. Thus, this study is eager to investigate the probability of relationship to exist between the website quality, perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and trust in the NPOs' website with user satisfaction of using NPO website and user willingness to donate.

In comparison with the attention given to the role of the internet in a variety of business, relatively little academic research has been conducted to study the user's online behaviour towards the NPO website. Thus far, to the very best of the researcher's knowledge, there has not been previous in depth study on the NPO website characteristic according to the user preference in Malaysia. The existing study of the NPO in Malaysia was related to the significance of disclosing selected information that's important to institutional donors to know (Zainon, Atan, Wah, and Nam, 2011). Besides that, another study was on the communication effort between the donor and the environmental NPO through selected website dimensions (Abdullah, Husin, Hasan, Husain, & Yahya, 2010). By addressing each issue, this study would help the NPO to establish better communication and to get attention from the existing and the potential stakeholders.

Another reason which has stimulated the recent study is the probability to establish a relationship of user satisfaction using the NPO website with user willingness to donate. There are findings where there is evidence indicated this relationship. As mentioned in the earlier chapter, user willingness denotes as an intention and also can be considered as an attitude. The previous finding indicated a significant relationship between the user satisfaction and user intention in many studies for-profit organization as suggested by the previous scholars such as Belanche, Casino´, and Guinalı´u (2012), Lau, Kwek, and Tan (2011), and Green and Pearson (2011). The IS model such as the Delone and McLean suggested that user satisfaction indicated a significant relationship with user intention. While the Technology Acceptance Model recommended a significant relationship between user satisfaction and user action. Therefore, the integration between the Delone and McLean Model with the Technology Acceptance Model in this research has raised an argument the probability to establish a relationship between the user satisfactions of using the NPO website with user willingness to donate in non-profit organisation context.

1.4 Research Question

The previous discussion has shown that NPO website is important communication medium for the NPO to communicate with their stakeholders at present and would remain important in the foreseeable future. Yet, to create a successful NPO website is not easy. In contrast with the for-profit organization, NPO website is a medium for the

NPO to sell their ideas. It is important for the NPO to ensure their ideas are widely shared among the society members because the NPO survival is depending on its ability to attract large donation from the society members. As mentioned earlier, the NPO website is one of the alternative media for the NPO to communicate. Thus, this research would help to answer the following research question related to the influence factors in user decision-making process.

- RQ1: What are the website features present in NPO website at Malaysia?
- RQ2: What is website user opinion of the present website features?
- RQ3: What is the relation between website quality, website usefulness, ease of use and trust with the user satisfaction of using NPO website?
- RQ4: What is the relation of website user's satisfaction of using NPO website with donor willingness to donate?
- RQ5: Does satisfaction of using NPO website mediate the relationship between website quality, PU, PEOU, and trust with user willingness to donate?

1.5 Research Objective

The research focus is limited to the interaction between the NPO with the website users using the website as a communication medium. This means this research will study website user opinions on selected NPO websites. The reason to narrow the research scope is that the website user may consider website quality, perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, trust, and satisfaction of using NPO website in their decision making and it would affect their intention. Besides, the focus helps to manage the limited time and resource better.

Henceforth, the purpose of this study is to identify donors' favourable website features which it related to the user willingness to donate. By reviewing the theories and findings of previous studies in relevant areas, this research strives to obtain a better understanding of this phenomenon. Thus, the research is conducted to:

- RO1: To identify the website quality features present in NPO website in Malaysia
- RO2: To identify website user opinion of the present website features in NPO website in Malaysia
- RO3: To determine the relationships between website quality (information, system, and service) and website usefulness, ease of use and trust with website user satisfaction of using NPO website.
- RO4: To determine the relationships between user satisfaction of using NPO website and website user's willingness to donate.
- RO5: To identify whether satisfaction of using NPO website mediate the relationship of website quality, PU, PEOU, and trust on user willingness to donate

1.6 Significant of Study

The aim of the NPO to create a website is to attract visitor to visit their website which will increase the NPO opportunity to share their mission and vision and to attract monetary and non-monetary contribution. This study anticipated several of significance findings.

This study is important to seek new knowledge in website quality function for the different type of industry. This is supported by the previous scholars who study on the user opinion towards the website characteristics in NPO service. For example, Kuan, Bock, and Vathanophas (2008) recommended extending the website quality research to a different range of products and services. Fan and Tsai (2010) proposed to use the similar research framework on difference website. Lee and Kozar (2012) also recommended the similar idea to replicate their study to broader e-business domain. While Xu, Benbasat, and Centefelli (2013) suggested generalising on the research finding, website research could apply their study on a real website. In the opinion of Akrimi and Khemakhem (2014), replicating studies in other contexts is essential to conclude whether the research may contribute differently due to product or website category. Chang, Chen, Hsu, and Kuo (2012) suggested that company can gain a better understanding of how to improve the company website quality to satisfy the customer by understanding website user responses. Sharma and Lijuan (2015) said that website with specific features is created to attract users with a different purpose such as to exchange value and to deliver a positive experience. Thus, the finding will be able to identify the user preferred website characteristic for the NPO in Malaysia and to help developing website quality guidelines for the NPO.

The study will benefit the NPO once the website full potential as a communication tool has been explored optimally. The finding will be a useful guide to the NPO in Malaysia to develop a new or to improve their existing website. The guidelines will benefit both experienced and inexperienced NPO website developer in evaluating and to improve the website performance. Meanwhile, the NPO will financially benefited once the NPO is able to optimise the website function. In the opinion of Pinho and Macedo (2006), the NPO must be able to manage their resources and capabilities more efficient and effective to cope with the competitive environment. Zhu, Lin, and Hsu (2012) claimed that managers need to understand the growing needs to use the internet and consumer characteristics to encourage repeat visit to the selected sites. Besides, this research would provide additional knowledge to the NPO website study. The idea is to adopt e-commerce website features to the NPO website that would give value added to the NPO website literature in Malaysia. Delone and McLean (2003) stated that information system (IS) is important to the e-commerce success. Hence, it could be a useful guideline to the NPO to create a successful website.

The study also would help the user to manage their time efficiently by reducing the time to surf the NPO website. It is part of the NPO role to fulfill their moral obligation when the NPO show concern towards user time to spend surfing their website. Finally, this research offers an alternative approach to the NPO to educate our society to be

more generous and caring. Therefore the study will help to answer the research questions.

1.7 Scope of the Study

The scope of this study is the non-profit organisation website features that could affect website user perceive of the NPO website and affect their intention. Therefore, this research investigated the relationship of the NPO website quality (information, system, and service quality), NPO website user perceives of the website usefulness, easiness, and trustworthiness which would affect website user satisfaction of using NPO website and decision. For example, a user will be satisfied with a website with accurate information. Thus, user satisfaction of using NPO website would reflect in their decision. While there could be many website qualities and online factors that probably would affect user satisfaction of using NPO website, thus this study is interested in focusing on the website quality features and online factors as suggested in the Delone and McLean Model and Technology Acceptance Model.

This study involved of NPO website users whose sample was exclusively drawn from the NPO volunteers' database and the qualified respondent was selected from those who have surfed the NPO website. This research was conducted on most popular NPO which located in Klang Valley as suggested by the Putra Brand Award 2010. The study believes the findings can be generalized in Malaysia context as it involved the donors from the most popular NPO.

1.8 Definition of Terms

For the purpose of getting a better understanding of this research, it is important to establish a similar concept for the specific terms that were used in this research. Thus, the following key terms were identified.

- i. **Information Quality** In the Delone and McLean Model, information quality refers to the success of website information to convey the intended meaning. For example, the product content. Thus, this study considers information quality as benefiting website content.
- ii. **System Quality** According to Delone and McLean (2003), system quality is the website desired characteristic which reflects its functionality. For example, website navigation and the page layout. Therefore, this research perceives system quality as the website ability to navigate effectively and reliable.
- iii. **Service Quality** Service quality refers to the overall support offered by the website (Yu and Zhao, 2014). It distinct an organisation service from another. For example, the present of feedback and frequently asks question (FAQ) option on the website. Thus, service quality reflects the ability of the website to interact and meet user service expectation.

- iv. **Perceived Usefulness** Perceived usefulness refers to the presence of technology will facilitate the transaction (Green and Pearson, 2011). Therefore, this research suggests that a useful website is an efficient website that able to simplify the process to transact.
- v. **Perceived Ease of use** Perceived ease of use reflects the ability of a website to provide easy to understand and facilitate user to use the website easily (Green and Pearson, 2011). With that, this study proposes that easy of use refers to a website that is met a user expectation to surf the website easily.
- vi. **Trust** Trust refers to individual belief in something that believable (Rusman, Van Bruggen, Koper, 2007) and can instil confidence to the user (Sharma and Baoku, 2013). Therefore, this research considers trust as the user could believe and feel confident with the website.
- vii. **Satisfaction** Satisfaction can be defined as how satisfied a customer with the products and services (Nawi, Al Mamun, and Raston, 2015). Satisfaction also refers to users feeling, attitude and expectation towards good service (Sharma and Lijuan, 2015). In addition, satisfaction refers to when users found the system or features as pleasant and easy to use (Green and Pearson, 2011). Also, according to O'Cass and Carlson (2010) customer satisfaction refers to the whole evaluation of the website use. Thus, this research considers user will be satisfied using the website if the NPO website met their expectation.
- viii. **User Willingness to Donate** According to Dictionary (2007) willingness is synonymous with inclination. Inclination refers to a person free choice to act in a particular way. While Chrisman and Patel (2012) said that willingness denotes as intention and commitment. In addition, Delone and McLean (2003) mentioned that intention could also be considered as an attitude such as intention to use. Hence, this research considers user willingness to donate is reflected in user decision. Thus, user willingness to donate is similar to the other intention such as to use the website (Belanche, Casalo, Guinaliu, 2012), purchase intention (Lau, Kwek, Tan, 2011) and repurchase intention (Zhou, Lu, and Wang, 2009) as a result from the user satisfaction.

REFERENCES

- Abdullah A.N., Husin H., Hasan H., Husain K., Yahya A (2010). Best practices usedy Malaysian environmental websites: a comparison study. *Journal of Human Capital Development*, 3(1), 69-84.
- Admin, R. (2010, Okt 31). Towards a caring society. Retrieved December 12, 2013, from http://recom.org/remagv2/2010/10/31/article-towards-a-caring-society/
- Agrebi, S., & Jallais, J. (2015). Explain the intention to use smartphones for mobile shopping. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 22, 16-23.
- Akrimi, Y., & Khemakhem, P. R. (2014). An analysis of perceived usability, Perceived Interactivity and Website Personality and their effects on Consumer Satisfaction. *International Journal of Management Excellence*, 2, 227-236.
- Alanezi, M. A., Mahmood, A. K., & Basri, S. (2011, September). *Conceptual model for measuring e-government service quality*. In Open Systems (ICOS), 2011 IEEE Conference on (pp. 411-416). IEEE.
- Alias, S.N and Ismail, M. (2013, December). Conceptualizing philanthropic behavior and its antecedents of volunteers in health care. In ResearchGate, 2013 Graduate Research Seminar in Education (pp. 758-769). GREduc.
- Anik, L., Aknin, L. B., Norton, M. I., & Dunn, E. W. (2009, August). Feeling good about giving: The benefits (and costs) of self-interested charitable behavior. In SSRN, 2009 Harvard Business School Marketing Unit Working Paper, (10-012).
- Ariff, M. S. M., Yan, N. S., Zakuan, N., Ishak, N., & Ismail, K. (2013). Web-based factors influencing online purchasing in b2c market; view of ict professionals. *Review of Integrative Business & Economics*, 2(2), 572-586.
- Ariff, M. S. M., Yun, L. O., Zakuan, N., & Ismail, K. (2013). The impacts of service quality and customer satisfaction on customer loyalty in internet banking. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 81, 469-473.
- Atan, Ruhaya., Zainon, Saunah., & Wah, Y. B. (2012). Quality information by charity organizations and its relationship with donations. *Recent Advances in Business Administration*, 118-123.
- Awang, Z. (2015). SEM made simple, A gentle approach to learning structural equation modeling. Bandar Baru Bangi: MPWS Rich Publication Sdn. Bhd.
- Aziz, A. A., Radzi, S. M., Zahari, M. S. M., & Ahmad, N. A. (2011). Hotel website Dimension: analyzing customers' preferences. *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality & Culinary Arts*, 3, 85-108.

- Babbie, E. R., Halley, F., & Zaino, J. (2007). Adventures in social research: data analysis using SPSS 14.0 and 15.0 for Windows. United States of America: Pine Forge Press.
- Bai, B., Law, R., & Wen, I. (2008). The impact of website quality on customer satisfaction and purchase intentions: Evidence from Chinese online visitors. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 27, 391–402.
- Basil, D. Z., Ridgway, N. M., & Basil, M. D. (2008). Guilt and giving: A process model of empathy and efficacy. *Psychology & Marketing*, 25(1), 1-23.
- Belanche, D., Casalo'L.V., Guinali'u, M. (2012). Website usability, consumer satisfaction and the intention to use a website: The moderating effect of perceived risk. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* 19(2012), 124–132.
- Bennett, R. (2003). Factors underlying the inclination to donate to particular types of charity. *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing* 8(1), 12-29.
- Bennett, R. (2009). Impulsive donation decisions during online browsing of charity websites. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 8(2-3), 116-134.
- Bernama. (2013, September 7). Kerajaan hargai peranan NGO. *Utusan Online*. Retrieved from http://ww1.utusan.com.my/utusan/Dalam_Negeri/20130907/dn_12/Kerajaan-hargai peranan-NGO
- Besarnya peranan NGO, badan kebajikan Islam (2013, May 24), *Sinar Online*. Retrieved from http://www.sinarharian.com.my/rencana/besarnya-peranan-ngo-badan-kebajikan-islam-1.163448
- Boris E.T (2006). *Non-profit and government: Collaboration and conflict*. Washington D.C: The Urban Institute Press.
- Boettger, R.K. & Palmer, L.A. (2010). Quantitative content analysis: Its use in technical communication. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication* 53(4), 2010.
- Bottiglieri W.A., Kroleski S.L., Conway, K. (2011). The regulation of non profit organizations. *Journal of Business and Economics research* 9(9), 51-60.
- Bryne, B.M. (2010). Structural equation modeling with AMOS: Basic concepts, application and programing. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cao, M., Zhang, Q., & Seydel, J. (2005). B2C e-commerce website quality: An empirical examination. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 105(5), 345-661.

- Carter, T.S. & Goh, U.S. (2006). *Branding and Trademarks for Charity and Not-For-Profit Organisation*. Butterworths: LexisNexis.
- Castañeda, J. A., Muñoz-Leiva, F., & Luque, T. (2007). Web acceptance model (WAM): moderating effects of user experience. *Information & Management*, 44(4), 384-396.
- Chang, K. C., Chen, M. C., Hsu, C. L., & Kuo, N. T. (2012). Integrating loss aversion into a technology acceptance model to assess the relationship between website quality and website user's behavioural intentions. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(7-8), 913-930.
- Chen, J.V., Rungruengsamrit, D., Rajkumar, T.M., & Yen, D.C. (2013). Success of electronic websites: A comparative study in two countries. *Information and Management* 50(2013), 344-355.
- Chen, C.C., Lin M.M., Chen M.C (2012). Exploring the mechanisms of the relationship between website characteristics and organizational attraction. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management* 23(4), 867 885.
- Chizawsky, L. L. K., Estabrooks, C. A., & Sales, A. E. (2009). The feasibility of webbased surveys as a data collection tool: a process evaluation. *Applied Nursing Research* 24(2011), 37-44.
- Chrisman, J. J., and P. J. Patel (2012). "Variations in R&D Investments of Family and NonFamily Firms: Behavioral Agency and Myopic Loss Aversion Perspectives," Academy of Management Journal 55(4), 976-997.
- Cristobal, E., Flavián, C., & Guinaliu, M. (2007). Perceived e-service quality (PeSQ) measurement validation and effects on consumer satisfaction and website loyalty. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 17(3), 317-340.
- Davis, F.D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 13, 319-340.
- Davidavičienė, V., & Tolvaišas, J. (2011). Measuring quality of e-commerce websites: Case of lithuania. *Economics and management*, 16, 723-729.
- Definition of youth. (n.d.). Retrieved May 18, 2017, from http://www.un.org/esa/socdev/documents/youth/fact-sheets/youth-definition.pdf
- DeLone, W. H., & McLean, E. R. (2003). The DeLone and McLean model of information systems success: A Ten-Year Update. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 19, 9-30.

- Deng, Z., Lu, Y., Wei, K. K., & Zhang, J. (2010). Understanding customer satisfaction and loyalty: An empirical study of mobile instant messages in China. *International Journal of Information Management*, 30(4), 289-300.
- Diaz E., Blasquez J.J. and Molina A., Martin-Consuegra, D. (2013). Are the non-governmental organizations' websites effective?. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal* 16(4), 370-392.
- Dictionary, O. E. (2007). Oxford English dictionary online.
- Dillman, D. A., & Smyth, J. D. (2007). Design effects in the transition to web-based surveys. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 32(5), 90-96.
- E-commerce set for growth (2015, December 28). *The Star Online*. Retrieved from https://www.thestar.com.my/metro/smebiz/news/2015/12/28/ecommerce-set-for-growth/
- Elling, S., Lentz, L., Jong, M. D., & Bergh, H. V. D. (2012). Measuring the quality of governmental websites in a controlled versus an online setting with the 'website evaluation questionnaire'. *Government Information Quarterly* 29(2012), 383-393.
- Fan, W-S. & Tsai, M-C. (2010). Factors driving website success-the key role of internet customisation and the influence of website design quality and internet marketing strategy. *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence* 21(11), 1141-1159.
- Fan, W., & Yan, Z. (2010). Factors affecting response rates of the web survey: A systematic review. *Computers in Human Behavior* 26(2010), 132-139.
- Ferreira, J. B., de Freitas, A. S., Nunes, D. C. G., & Giovannini, C. J. (2014). Factors affecting satisfaction in online Financial transactions: a study of brazilian home brokers/Fatores que Afetam a Satisfação em Transações Financeiras Online: um estudo sobre o investidor de corretoras de valores mobiliários virtuais/Factores que influyen en la satisfacción de las transacciones financieras por internet: un estudio sobre inversores de agencias inmobiliarias virtuales. Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios, 16(51), 257.
- Fleming, C. M., & Bowden, M. (2009). Web-based surveys as an alternative to traditional mail methods. *Journal of Environmental Management 90*(2009), 284-292.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18 (1), 41-54.

- Gao, L., Waechter, K. A., & Bai, X. (2015). Understanding consumers' continuance intention towards mobile purchase: A theoretical framework and empirical study—A case of China. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 53, 249-262.
- Gefen, D., Karahanna, E., & Straub, D. W. (2003). Trust and TAM in online shopping: an integrated model. *MIS quarterly*, 27(1), 51-90.
- Glenn, E.N. (2000). Creating a caring society. Contemporary Sociology, 29(1), 84-94.
- Glynn, S.A., Schreiber, G.B., Murphy, E.L., Kessler, D., Higgins, M., Wright, D. J., Mathew, S., Tu, Y., King, M., & Smith, J.W. (2005). Factors influencing the decision to donate: Racial and Ethnic Comparisons. Blood Donors and Blood Collection. doi: 10.1111/j.1537-2995.2006.00831.x
- Goatman, A. K., & Lewis, B. R. (2007). Charity E-volution? An evaluation of the attitudes of UK charities towards website adoption and use. *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing*, 12(1), 33-46.
- Goh, K. N., Chen, Y. Y., Lai, F. W., Daud, S. C., Sivaji, A., & Soo, S. T. (2013). A comparison of usability testing methods for an e-commerce website: A case study on a Malaysia online gift shop. In Proceedings of the 2013 10th International Conference on Information Technology: New Generations, ITNG 2013 (pp. 143–150). doi:10.1109/ITNG.2013.129
- Gordon, T.P., Knock, C.L., and Neely D.G. (2009). The role of rating agencies in the market for charitable contributions: An Empirical Test. *J. Account. Public Policy* 28(2009), 469-484.
- Grant, A. & Dutton, J. (2012). Beneficiary or benefactor: Are people more prosocial when they reflect on receiving or giving. *Psychological Science*, 23(9) 1033 1039.
- Greenberg, J., MacAulay, M. (2009). NPO 2.0? Exploring the web presence of environmental nonprofit organizations in Canada. *Global Media Journal*, 2(1), 63-68.
- Green T. D. & Pearson J.M (2011). Integrating website usability with the electronic Commerce Acceptance Model. *Behaviour and Information Technology* 30(2), 181 199.
- Gregg, D.G. & Walczak, S. (2010). The relationship between website quality, trust and price premiums at online auctions. *Electron Commerce Res* 10(2010), 1-25.
- Griffith, D.A. (2005). An examination of the influences of store layout in online retailing. *Journal of Business Research*, 58(10), 1391-1396.

- Hashim, M.A. (2014, December 30). The third sector in our economy. *The Star Online*. Retrieved from http://www.thestar.com.my/opinion/columnists/ikimviews/2014/12/30/the-third-sector-in-our-economy-malaysia-must-promote-a-more-organised-and-systematic-voluntary-sect/
- Hassan, S. and Weiss, M. (2004). Social movements in Malaysia: From moral communities to NGO. London: Taylor and Francis.
- Hair Jr, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C.M., and Sarstedt, M. (2014). A primer on partial least squares structural equation modeling (PLS-SEM). Sage Publications.
- Hair, J.F.Jr., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., & Black, W.C. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis with reading*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (1998). *Multivariate data analysis* (Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 207-219). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice hall.
- Herrero, Á., & San Martín, H. (2012). Developing and testing a global model to explain the adoption of websites by users in rural tourism accommodations. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 31(4), 1178-1186.
- Herring, S. C. (2009). Web content analysis: Expanding the paradigm. *International handbook of internet research* (pp. 233-249). Netherlands: Springer.
- Herington, C., & Weaven, S. (2009). E-retailing by banks: e-service quality and its importance to customer satisfaction. *European Journal of Marketing*, 43(9/10), 1220-1231.
- Hertzog, M. A. (2008). Considerations in determining sample size for pilot studies. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 31(2), 180-191.
- Ho, L., Kuo, T., & Lin, B. (2012). The mediating effect of website quality on internet searching behavior. *Computers in Human Behaviour* 28(2012), 840-848.
- Hock Eng, K., Choy Yee, W., & Devi Chuah, N. Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commision, (2013). *Internet user survey 2012*. Retrieved from Malaysia Communications and Multimedia Commision website: http://www.skmm.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/InternetUsersSurvey2012.pdf
- Hong, T. L., & Marimuthu, M. (2014). Relationship between service quality and customer satisfaction: A study of Malaysian banking industry. *The Journal of Technology Management and Technopreneurship (JTMT)*, 2(2).

- Hsu, C. L., Chang, K. C., & Chen, M. C. (2012). The impact of website quality on customer satisfaction and purchase intention: perceived playfulness and perceived flow as mediators. *Information Systems and e-Business Management*, 10(4), 549-570.
- Hsu, M. H., Chang, C. M., & Chuang, L. W. (2015). Understanding the determinants of online repeat purchase intention and moderating role of habit: The case of online group-buying in Taiwan. *International Journal of Information Management*, 35(1), 45-56.
- Hur, Y., Ko, Y. J., & Valacich, J. (2011). A structural model of the relationships between sport website quality, e-satisfaction, and e-loyalty. *Journal of Sport Management*, 25(5), 458-473.
- Ilhan, H. (2013). Non profit organization as providers of public goods. *Yonetim ve Ekonomi*, 20(1), 95-104.
- Ingenhoof, D., Koelling, A.M (2010). Website as a dialogic tool for charitable fundraising NPOs: A comparative Study. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, 4, 171-188.
- Ingham, J., & Cadieux, J. (2016, January). From E-Shopping System Quality to the Consumer's Intention to Return: A Meta-Analytic study of the sediation of attitude, usefulness, enjoyment, and trust. In System Sciences (HICSS), 2016 49th Hawaii International Conference on (pp. 3556-3564). IEEE.
- Islam, H. (2009) Effects of website interactivity on online retail shopping behaviour. *Value Creation in e-Business Management 36*(2009), 131-142.
- Kadir, A.A (2017, Mac 14). *Ngo sukan berperanan menarik lebih ramai masyarakat bersukan*. Retrieved from http://www.jbsn.gov.my/jbs-kelantan/item/3176-ngo-sukan-berperanan-menarik-lebih-ramai-masyarakat-bersukan.html
- "Kaamatan festival unites Malaysia". (2009, May 25). Retrieved December 12, 2013, from http://www.newsabahtimes.com.my/nstweb/fullstory/28841
- Kamarulzaman, Y. (2011). A focus group study of consumer motivations for eshopping: UK versus Malaysia. *African Journal of Business Management*, 5(16), 6778.
- Kassim, N., & Asiah Abdullah, N. (2010). The effect of perceived service quality dimensions on customer satisfaction, trust, and loyalty in e-commerce settings: A cross cultural analysis. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*, 22(3), 351-371.
- Kang, S. & Norton, H.E. (2004). Nonprofit organization' use of the world wide web: Are they sufficiently fulfilling organizational goals? *Public Relations Review*, 30(2004), 279-284.

- Kerajaan Iktiraf Peranan NGO Dalam Bajet 2016 4PM (2015, Oct 25), *MyNewshub*. Retrieved from http://www.mynewshub.cc/terkini/kerajaan-iktiraf-peranan-ngo-dalam-bajet-2016-4pm/
- Kilby, P. (2006). Accountability for empowerment: Dilemmas facing non-governmental organizations. *World Development*, 34(6), 951–963.
- Kim, D.J., Ferrin, D.L. and Rao, H.R. (2009). Trust and satisfaction, two stepping stones for successful E-Commerce relationships: A logitudinal exploration, *Journal Information System Research*, 20(2), pp. 2337-257.
- Kim, G.-M., & Ong, S. M. (2005). An exploratory study of factors influencing M-learning success. *The Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 46(1), 92–97.
- Kim, H., & Niehm, L. S. (2009). The impact of website quality on information quality, value, and loyalty intentions in apparel retailing. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 23(3), 221-233.
- Kim, I. & Kuljis, J. (2010) Applying content analysis to web-based content. *Journal of Computing and Information Technology-CIT 18*, 2010, 4, 369-375.
- Krippendorff, K. (2012). Content analysis: An introduction to its methodology, 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kline, R. B. (2010). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. New York: Guilford publications.
- Kline, R. B. (2015). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling*. New York: Guilford publications.
- Kuan, H., Bock, G., & Vathanophas, V. (2008). Comparing the effects of website quality on customer initial purchase and continued purchase at e-commerce websites. *Behaviour and Information Technology*, 27(1), 3-16.
- Kuo, H-M. & Chen, C-W. (2011). Application of quality function deployment to improve the quality of internet shopping website interface design. *International Journal of Innovative Computing, Information and Control* 7(1), 253-268.
- Kuo, Y. F., Wu, C. M., & Deng, W. J. (2009). The relationships among service quality, perceived value, customer satisfaction, and post-purchase intention in mobile value-added services. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25(4), 887-896.
- Law, R. & Cheung, C. (2006). A Study of the perceived importance of the overall website quality of different classes of hotels. *Hospitality Management* 25 (2006), 525-531.

- Lau, T. C., Kwek, C. L., & Tan, H. P. (2011). Airline e-ticketing service: How e-service quality and customer satisfaction impacted purchase intention. *International Business Management*, 5(4), 200-208.
- Lee, F-H. & Wu, W-Y. (2011). Moderating effects of technology acceptance perspectives on e-service quality formation: Evidence from airline websites in Taiwan. *Expert Yan Systems with Applications* 38(2011), 7766-7773.
- Lee, K. C., & Chung, N. (2009). Understanding factors affecting trust in and satisfaction with mobile banking in Korea: A modified DeLone and McLean's model perspective. *Interacting with Computers*, 21(5), 385-392.
- Lee, Y. & Kozar, K.A. (2012). Understanding of website usability: specifying and measuring constructs and their relationships. *Decision Support System* 52(2012), 450-463.
- Lee, Y.K. and Chang, C.T. (2007). Who gives what to charity? Characteristics affecting donation behavior. *Social Behavior and Personality* 2007, 35(9), 1173 1180.
- Leng, G. S., Lada, S., Muhammad, M. Z., Ibrahim, A. A. H. A., & Amboala, T. (2011). An exploration of social networking sites (SNS) adoption in Malaysia using technology acceptance model (TAM), theory of planned behavior (TPB) and intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 16(2), 1-27.
- Liang, C.J., & Chen, H.J. (2009). A Study of the impacts of website quality on customer relationship performance. *Total Quality Management*, 20(9), 971-988.
- Liang, T. P., Ho, Y. T., Li, Y. W., & Turban, E. (2011). What drives social commerce: The role of social support and relationship quality. *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 16(2), 69-90.
- Li, J. (2009). Theoretical model of consumer acceptance: In the view of website quality. In E-Business and Information System Security, 2009. EB ISS'09. International Conference on (pp.1-4). IEEE.
- Lombard, M., Snyder-Duch, J., & Bracken, C. C. (2002). Content analysis in mass communication research: An assessment and reporting of intercoder reliability. *Human Communication Research*, 28, 587-604.
- Madichie, N.O & Hinson, R. (2013). A critical analysis of the "dialogic c communications" potential of sub-Saharan African Police Service websites. *Public Relations Review*, 40(2), 338-350.
- Maleki, S. (2011). E-survey (surveys based on e-mail & web). *Procedia Computer Science*, *3*, 935-941.

- Malik, N. (2008). Defining "charity" and "charitable Purposes". *International Journal of Not-for-Profit Law* 11(2008), 36 51.
- Mansor, N. (2014, November 6). NGO penuhi keperluan social rakyat. *BH Online*. Retrieved from http://www.bharian.com.my/node/15982
- Marres, N. and Rogers, R. (2008), "Subsuming the ground: how local realities of the Fergana Valley, the Narmada Dams and the BTC pipeline are put to use on the web", *Economy and Society*, 37(2), 251-281.
- McGovern, G. (2010). The Strangers's Long Neck. London: A&C Black.
- McMahon, D., Seaman, S., & Lemley, D. A. (2015). The adoption of websites by nonprofits and the impact on society. *Technology in Society*, 42, 1-8.
- Medina, M. Q., & Chaparro, J. P. (2007). The impact of the human element in the information systems quality for decision making and user satisfaction. *The Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 48(2), 44–52.
- Mejova, Y., Weber, Y. & Garimella, V.R.K., Dougal, M.C. (2014, February 15-19). *Giving is Caring: Understanding Donation Behaviour Through Email*. Paper presented at CSCW 2014 Proceedings of the 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing. doi:10.1145/2531602.2531611
- Meyer, N. "E-commerce interface design parameters and their relation to website popularity", Master Thesis, University of Ptetoria. 2008.
- Modi P., Mishra D (2010). Conceptualising market orientation in non-profit organisations: definition, performance, and preliminary construction of a scale. *Journal of Marketing Management* 26(2010), 548-569.
- Moghadam, A., Sohrabi, A., Khodadadi, H., Mohseni, I., Laien, S., & Bemani, Y. (2013). World of Sciences Journal. *Governance and Value Creation by Non Profit Organization in Iran, 1*(9), 30-48.
- Mohd Zakaria, A. A., Abd. Samad, R. R., & Shafii, Z. (2012). Venture philanthropy waqf practices and its implementation: Scenario in Malaysia. *International Journal of Business, Economics and Law, 1*(2012), 108–115.
- Mohamed, S. (2012, November 1). Boost ties to create caring society. Retrieved from http://www.nst.com.my/streets/johor/boost-ties-to-create-caring-societ1.164950
- Muhamad, S. N., Mohamed, A. K., Haron, Z., Rahman, A., & Aisyah, S. (2004). Budaya penyayang dalam kehidupan masyarakat Islam: Antara teori dan praktis.

- Multimedia Development Corporation, (2013). *Malaysia government portals and website assessment 2013*. Retrieved from website:http://www.mampu.gov.my/documents/10228/47243/Criteria2013.p df/d3a98ada-1746-42e8-b539-d7d3fcbfde55
- Musa, N., Junaini, S. N., & Bujang, Y. R. (2006). Improving usability of e-recruitment website: A preliminary study on Sarawak Government website. In *PACIS* 2006 10th Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems: ICT and Innovation Economy (pp. 507–515). Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-79958753584&partnerID=40&md5=6c3a30ac664c82a4d19efed10c9ba319
- Nain, Z. (2011, June 05). What 'caring society'?... Retrieved December 12, 2013 from http://www.theborneopost.com/2011/06/05/what-'caring-society'/
- Nawi, N. B. C., Al Mamun, A., & Raston, N. A. (2015). Examining customer satisfaction at the point-of-purchase Phase: A study on Malaysian econsumers. *Asian Social Science*, 11(16), 88.
- Neuendorf, K. (2002), The content analysis guidebook, Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA.
- NGO mempunyai peranan, sumbangan besar terhadap pembangunan: Dr Abdul Rahman (2016, November 1), *Borneopost Online*. Retrieved from http://www.theborneopost.com/2016/11/01/ngo-mempunyai-peranan-sumbangan-besar-terhadap-pembangunan-dr-abdul-rahman/
- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. H. (1994). The assessment of reliability. *Psychometric Theory*, 3(1), 248-292.
- O'Cass, A., & Carlson, J. (2010). Examining the effects of website-induced flow in professional sporting team websites. *Internet Research*, 20(2), 115-134.
- Oly Ndubisi, N., & Sinti, Q. (2006). Consumer attitudes, system's characteristics and internet banking adoption in Malaysia. *Management Research News*, 29(1/2), 16-27.
- Paradi, N. (2014, Januari 1). Jadikan memberi budaya hidup. Berita Harian pp. 34.
- Peranan NGO bantu rakyat miskin amat dialukan, kata Fatimah (2016 March 12), *Utusan Borneo (Sarawak)*. Retrieved from https://www.pressreader.com/malaysia/utusan-borneo sarawak/20160312/281814282967129
- Peranan NGO dalam usaha meningkatkan kesedaran tentang kanser (2013, October 31). Sarawakiana. Retrieved from http://www.sarawakiana.net/2015/10/peranan-ngo-dalam-usaha-meningkatkan.html

- Peytchev, A., Couper, M., McCabe, S.E., Crawford, S.D. (2006). Web survey design: Paging versus scrolling. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 70(4), 596–607.
- Pinho, J.C. and Macedo, I.M. (2006), "The benefits and barriers associated with the use of the internet within the non-profit sector", *Journal of Nonprofit & Public Sector Marketing*, 16(1/2), 171-193.
- Ponte, E. B., Carvajal-Trujillo, E., & Escobar-Rodríguez, T. (2015). Influence of trust and perceived value on the intention to purchase travel online: Integrating the effects of assurance on trust antecedents. *Tourism Management*, 47, 286-302.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers*, 36(4), 717-731.
- Ramayah, T., Samat, N., & Lo, M.C (2011). Market orientation, service quality, and organizational performance in service organizations in Malaysia. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, 3 (1), 8-27.
- Rashid, L.H.A (2016, Disember 1). *Hari aids sedunia: apa peranan kita?* Retrieved from http://news.usm.my/index.php/berita-mutakhir/4510-hari-aids-sedunia-apa-peranan-kita
- Razali, M.F (2014, July 8). NGO setuju kerjasama tangani masalah gelandangan, pengemis. *MyPutrajayanews*. Retrieved from http://myputrajayanews.com/v2/ngo-setuju-kerjasama-tangani-masalah-gelandangan-pengemis/
- Reddick, C.G. & Ponomariov, B. (2012). The effect of individuals' organization affiliation on their internet donations. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly* 42(6), 1197-1223.
- Reslan, S., Saules, K. K., & Greenwald, M. K. (2012). Validation of an online questionnaire measure of the relative reinforcing value of food. *Eating behaviors*, 13(3), 278-280.
- Ridhwan, M. & Nooh, M.N. (2013). Websites content and design analysis between conventional and Islamic banking institutions. *International Journal of Education and Research* 1(6), 1-12.
- Rusman, E., Van Bruggen, J., & Koper, R. (2007). Theoretical framework for the design and development of a personal identity profile fostering interpersonal trust in virtual project teams. *Educational Technology Papers (pp. 279-286)*. Italy: Centre for Telematics and Information Technology (CTIT).
- Salehi, M. (2012). Consumer buying behavior towards online shopping stores in Malaysia. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 2(1), 393-402.

- Sam, M. F. M., & Tahir, M. N. H. (2009). Website quality and consumer online purchase intention of air ticket. *International Journal of Basic & Applied Sciences*, 9(10), 4–9.
- Sanchez-Fernandez, J., Munoz-Leiva, F., and Montoro-Rios, F.J. (2012). (2012). Improving retention rate and response quality in web-based surveys. *Computers in Human Behaviour 28*(2012), 507-514.
- Sauermann, H., & Roach, M. (2012). Increasing web survey response rates in innovation research: An experimental study of static and dynamic contact design features. *Research Policy* 42(2012), 273-286.
- Shao Yeh, Y., & Li, Y. M. (2009). Building trust in m-commerce: contributions from quality and satisfaction. *Online Information Review*, *33*(6), 1066-1086.
- Sharma, G., & Baoku, L. (2013). Customer satisfaction in web 2.0 and information book technology development. *Information Technology & People*, 26(4), 347-367.
- Sharma, G., & Lijuan, W. (2015). The effects of online service quality of e-commerce websites on user satisfaction. *The Electronic Library*, 33(3).
- Shier, L.M., & Handy, F. (2012). Understanding online donor behavior: the role of donor characteristics, perceptions of the internet, website and program, and influence from social networks. *International Journal of Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Marketing* 17(2012), 219-230.
- Shih, T., & Fan, X. (2008). Comparing response rates in e-mail and paper surveys: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review* 4(2009), 26-40.
- Shin, J. I., Chung, K. H., Oh, J. S., & Lee, C. W. (2013). The effect of site quality on repurchase intention in Internet shopping through mediating variables: The case of university students in South Korea. *International Journal of Information Management*, 33(3), 453-463.
- Shroff, R. H., Deneen, C. C., & Ng, E. M. (2011). Analysis of the technology acceptance model in examining students' behavioural intention to use an eportfolio system. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 27(4).
- Siddiqi, K.O. (2011). Interrelations between service quality attributes, customer satisfaction and customer loyalty in the retail banking sector in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6(3), 12-36.
- Simmons, G., Armstrong, G. A., & Durkin, M. G. (2008). A conceptualization of the determinants of small business website adoption: Setting the research agenda. *International Small Business Journal* 26(3), 351–389.

- Smith, R. W., & Schwarz, N. (2012). When promoting a charity can hurt charitable giving: A metacognitive analysis. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 22(4), 558-564.
- Snipes, R., & Oswald, S. (2010). Charitable giving to not-for-profit organizations: Factors affecting donations to non-profit organizations. *Innovative Marketing*, *6*(1), 73-80.
- Sommerfeldt, J.E., Kent, M.L., & Taylor, M. (2012). Activist practitioner perspectives of website public relations: Why aren't activist websites fulfilling the dialogic promise? *Public Relations Review* 38(2012), 303-312.
- Srinivasan, R. (2012). *Services marketing: The Indian context* (3rd ed.). Delhi: PHI Learning Pvt Ltd.
- Sriramesh, K., Rivera-Sanchez, M., & Soriano, C. (2012). Websites for stakeholder relations by corporations and NPO, a time lag study in Singapore. *Journal of Communication Management* 17(2), 122-139.
- Statistik pendaftaran pertubuhan (2014, September 10). Retrieved from http://www.ros.gov.my/index.php/my/statistik-perkhidmatan/statistik-pendaftaran
- Stone, W.S & Wilbanks, J. (2012). Transparency and accountability: A look at non-profit internet website content. *Insights to a Changing World Journal* 2012(3), 79.
- Sunan Ibn Majah (pp. Ibn Majah, Book 33, Hadith no 3682)
- Subramanian, N., Gunasekaran, A., Yu, J., Cheng, J., & Ning, K. (2014). Customer satisfaction and competitiveness in the Chinese E-retailing: Structural equation modeling (SEM) approach to identify the role of quality factors. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 41(1), 69-80.
- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. S.(2007). Using multivariate statistics. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Tan, G. W., Wei, K.K (2006). An empirical study of web browsing behaviour: Towards an effective Website design. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications* 5(2006), 261-271.
- Tseng, K. C., Hsu, C. L., & Chuang, Y. H. (2012). Acceptance of information technology and the internet by people aged over fifty in Taiwan. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, 40(4), 613-622.
- Udo, G. J., Bagchi, K. K., & Kirs, P. J. (2010). An assessment of customers'e-service quality perception, satisfaction and intention. *International Journal of Information Management*, 30(6), 481-492.

- Uzunoglu, E., & Misci Kip, S. (2013). Building relationships through websites: A content analysis of Turkish environmental non-profit organization' (NPO) websites. *Public Relations Review* (2013).
- Vladimirov, Z. (2012) Customer satisfaction with the Bulgarian tour operators and tour agencies' websites. *Tourism Management Perspectives* 4(2012), 176-184.
- Verma, H. V. (2012). *Services marketing: Text and cases*, 2/e. New Delhi: Pearson Education India.
- Wang, L., Law, R., Guillet, B. D., Hung, K., & Fong, D. K. C. (2015). Impact of hotel website quality on online booking intentions: eTrust as a mediator. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 47, 108-115.
- Wells, J. D., Valacich, J. S., & Hess, T. J. (2011). What signals are you sending? How website quality influences perceptions of product quality and purchase intentions. *MIS quarterly*, 35(2), 373-396.
- Wong, M.L.D., Jusoff, K. (2011). Social Networking in charity advocacy. World Applied Science Journal 12 (Special Issue on computer applications and Knowledge Management, 2011, 65-72.
- Winnie, P-M. W. (2014) The effects of website quality on customer e-loyalty: The mediating effect of trustworthiness. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 4(3), 19-41.
- Wixom, B. H. and Todd, P.A. (2005). A theoretical integration of user satisfaction and technology acceptance information systems research. *Information Systems Research 16*(1), 85–102.
- Wu, M-Y., Chou, H-P., Weng Y-C., and Huang, Y-H. (2011). TAM2-Based study of website user behaviour Using Web 2.0 website as an example. WSEAS Transcations on Business and Economics 4(8), October 2011.
- Xu, J., Benbasat, I & Centefelli, R. T. (2013). Integrating service quality with system and information: An empirical test in the e-service context. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(3), 777-794.
- Yang, M., Shao, Z., Liu, Q., & Liu, C. (2017). Understanding the quality factors that influence the continuance intention of students toward participation in MOOCs. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 65(5), 1195-1214.
- Yang, A. & Taylor, M. (2010). Relationship building by Chinese ENGOs' Websites: Education, not activation. *Public Relations Review 36*(2010), 342-351.

- Yeon, H.M., Choi Y., Kiousis, S. (2005). Interactive communication features in NPO Web pages for the practice of excellence in public relations. *Journal of Website Promotion* 1(4), 61-83.
- Yu, P., & Zhao, D. (2014). Effect of website quality factors on the success of agricultural products B2C e-commerce. *IFIP International Federation for Information Processing* 420 (2014), 98-113.
- Zainon, S., Atan, R., Wah, Y. B., & Nam, R. Y. T. (2011). Institutional donors' expectation of information from the non-profit organizations (NPOs) reporting: A pilot survey. *International NGO Journal*, 6(8), 170-180.
- Zainudin, N. M., Ahmad, W. F. W., & Nee, G. K. (2010). Evaluating C2C e-commerce website usability in Malaysia from users' perspective: A case study. In *Proceedings 2010 International Symposium on Information Technology Visual Informatics, ITSim'10* (Vol. 1). doi:10.1109/ITSIM.2010.5561400
- Zhang, G., Ma, L., & Zhang, X. (2017). Understanding Users' Recommendation Intention of Taxi-hailing Apps: An Internal Perception Perspective. In WHICEB 2017 Proceedings. 43
- Zheng, Y., Zhao, K., & Stylianou, A. (2013). The impacts of information quality and system quality on users' continuance intention in information-exchange virtual communities: An empirical investigation. *Decision Support Systems*, 56, 513-524.
- Zhou, T., & Zhang, S. (2009). Examining the effect of e-commerce website quality on user satisfaction. Second international symposium on electronic commerce and security.
- Zhou, T., Lu, Y., and Wang, B. (2009). The relative importance of website design quality and service quality in determining consumers' online repurchase behaviour, *Information System Management* 26(4), 327 337.
- Zhu, D. S., Lin, T. C. T., & Hsu, Y. C. (2012). Using the technology acceptance model to evaluate user attitude and intention of use for online games. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 23(7-8), 965-980.